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The Local Government Act of 1888 broke the tra-
dition and pattern of county government that had
developed over the previous 400 years whereby the
unpaid Justice of the Peace, qualified by his land hold-
ing and oath taking, had slowly become the principal
agent of local government. At the start of the nineteenth
century there were 113 in Gloucestershire, 30 of whom
were clergymen, about the national average. Some were
aristocrats and actively served in the Quarter Sessions,
held four times a year at the newly-built Shire Hall,
Well known landed families like the Berkeleys, the
Bathursts from Cirencester and Lydney and the
Somersets (Beauforts) at Badminton House joined with
other justices in trade and manufacture like the famous
prison reformer Sir George Onisipherous Paul in levy-
ing, collecting and spending the county rate. Most of
the rate went on law and order and much less on main
roads and repairing the county’s bridges. Justices
dispensed petty justice from their homes and in petty
sessional courts, and criminal justice at the Quarter
Session Courts.

Several developments in the 19th century came to
erode the prime position of the justices and led to a call
for reform in county government. First, the increasing
numbers able to vote at Parliamentary elections, with
the extension of the franchise between 1832 and 1884,
and to share in municipal government at Gloucester
Tewkesbury and later at Cheltenham gave them a taste
of power, often encouraged by beer and money — but
no share in county government. The second major
development in the half century before reform was
the opportunity for leading local men to participate in
public life by being elected to such bodies as the Poor
Law Unions, the Highway Boards and Sanitary
Districts. This deprived the justices of their exclusive
control of local affairs. Finally, the growing influence
of central government in legislation which affected the
county led to the appointment of salaried professionals
to serve the justices in Quarter Sessions — the county
surveyor, the county architect, the county analyst and
the chief constable, who all gave professional advice
1o the amateurs. And after 1871 the District Auditor
verified the justices’ accounts.

THE ELECTIONS, JANUARY 1889

Under the Local Government Act, passed by a Con-
servative government, Gloucestershire was divided
into 53 electoral divisions which were to return 60
councillors, Cheltenham returning six and St George,
Bristol three. All who had a parliamentary vote —
about 60,000 men — and borough council voters —
about 68,000 including some women — made up the
128,938 registered voters!. Candidates for the new
County Council had to come from those qualified to
vote or peers with land in the county.

The elections of January 1889 resulted in 35 justices
(often called magistrates) being elected, 24 of them
unopposed. These included Sir John Dorington, the
Chairman of the old Quarter Sessions since 1878 and
Tory MP for Tewkesbury, Earl Bathurst, Baron Fitz-
hardinge from Berkeley and Lord Moreton Others like
the Freeman-Mitfords at Moreton-in-Marsh defeated
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